Electronically Filed
Jul 28 2016 03:47 p.m.
Tracie K. Lindeman
Clerk of Supreme Court

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF NEVADA

Sup. Ct. No. 69773

-----X
MICHAEL SARGEANT,)
Individually and on behalf of others)
similarly situated,)
)
Petitioners,)
)
vs.)
)
HENDERSON TAXI,)
)
Respondents,)
_____)

Dist. Ct No.: A-15-714136-C

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Leon Greenberg, NSB 8094
A Professional Corporation
2965 S. Jones Boulevard - Suite E-3
Las Vegas, Nevada 89146
Telephone (702) 383-6085
Fax: 702-385-1827

Attorney for Appellants

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF NEVADA

Sup. Ct. No. 69773

-----X
MICHAEL SARGEANT, ,) Dist. Ct No.: A-15-714136-C
Individually and on behalf of others)
similarly situated,)
)

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal because it is an appeal of a final judgment. The Order granting summary judgment and constituting a final judgment was entered by the District Court in this case on February 3, 2016 and Notice of Entry of the same served by electronic delivery on February 15, 2016. The Notice of Appeal was served and filed on February 9, 2016.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED

Article 15, Section 16, of the Nevada Constitution (the Minimum Wage Amendment or “MWA”) guarantees a minimum wage to Nevada employees. This appeal concerns the district court’s application of the first two sentences of Subpart (B) of the MWA which state:

The provisions of this section [the MWA] may not be waived by agreement between an individual employee and an employer. All of the provisions of this section, or any part hereof, may be waived in a bona fide collective bargaining agreement, but only if the waiver is explicitly set forth in such agreement in clear and unambiguous terms.

If the district court erred in applying the foregoing requirements of the MWA this Court will also have to consider whether the district court erred in denying class

certification and other relief requested under NRCP Rule 23.

The specific questions this Court is called upon to answer are:

(1) Can a collective bargaining agreement's ("CBA's") grievance resolution process terminate an employee's right to bring a MWA lawsuit for minimum wages even though the CBA does not waive any MWA rights?

If the Court answers question (1) in the affirmative, it must also answer the following question:

(2) Can such a CBA grievance resolution terminate an employee's right to prosecute their earlier filed MWA lawsuit when (a) The CBA states that disputes involving the employer's compliance with any law must be "decided only by a court of law of competent jurisdiction" and not through the CBA's grievance process; (b) The CBA states that no grievance resolution shall "have retroactive effect in any other case;" and (c) The grievance resolution does not mention any waiver of, or change to, either of those CBA provisions?

If the Court answers questions (1) and (2) in the affirmative, it must also answer the following question:

(3) Did the CBA grievance resolution in this case, pursuant to its terms, fully settle the MWA claims of Henderson Taxi's ("Henderson's") taxi driver employees and also deprive them of any right to have the district court enforce that settlement?

If the Court answers any of the foregoing three questions in the negative it must also answer one or both of the following two questions:

(4) Was the district court correct in holding that the acknowledgments Henderson secured from some of its taxi drivers, stating they had been fully compensated for any unpaid minimum wages owed to them, were valid?

(5) Was the district court correct in denying class certification and other relief under NRCP Rule 23?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The appellant, Michael Sargeant (“Sargeant”), filed this case on February 19, 2015 in the Eighth Judicial District Court, alleging in his class action complaint that Henderson failed to compensate him and a class of similarly situated taxi drivers with the minimum wage required by the MWA. AA 1-7.¹

On March 19, 2015 Henderson answered Sargeant’s complaint and denied all allegations that it owed Sargeant or any of its taxi drivers unpaid minimum wages. AA 8-15. On May 27, 2015 Sargeant filed a motion for class certification and other relief which was opposed by Henderson. AA 16-276. On October 8, 2015 the district court entered an Order denying that motion. AA 318-322. On November 11, 2015 Henderson filed a motion for summary judgment which was opposed by Sargeant. AA 355-368, 392-402. On February 3, 2016 the district court entered an Order granting Henderson’s motion for summary judgment. AA 413-418.

¹ Referenced page numbers of Appellant’s Appendix are referred to as “AA.”

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Summary of Facts

Approximately one month after answering Sargeant's class action complaint Henderson began a coordinated campaign to bypass Sargeant's counsel, and the judicial system, and secure direct settlements of the class claims by the over 1000 taxi driver class members. It did so under the direction of its attorneys and without any advance advisement to Sargeant's counsel or the district court. It did so by sending the class members letters mentioning this case and stating it was brought by attorneys seeking "to line their own pockets rather than to truly benefit individuals like you." AA 51. It asked each class member, in exchange for a payment calculated by it in an unknown manner, to execute an acknowledgment stating they had been fully paid all of the minimum wages they may have been owed by Henderson. AA 51-52, 57. A substantial majority of the class members executed those acknowledgments. AA 192-193.

Henderson, when advised by Sargeant's counsel that its actions were improper, ignored such counsel's request that it engage in a transparent, and

judicially approved, process to resolve the class members' minimum wage claims. AA 59-61. Instead it offered Sargeant, in exchange for a dismissal with prejudice of this case, a \$5,000 damages payment, an amount greatly in excess of the \$107.23 in unpaid minimum wages Henderson claimed Sargeant was owed, along with a payment to his attorney of \$20,000 in fees. AA 63. One month later, after Sargeant declined that settlement and dismissal proposal, Henderson secured a "resolution" with its taxi drivers' union of a "grievance" that it had rejected 11 months earlier. AA 272,² 267. The district court later granted Henderson summary judgment, finding the grievance resolution settled all MWA claims of Henderson's taxi drivers, including those of Sargeant and the other taxi drivers who never signed any acknowledgment or accepted any payment from Henderson. AA 413-418.

Detailed Statement of Facts

Sargeant was employed by Henderson as a taxi driver until approximately

² AA 272, the grievance resolution, bears no execution date but the fax transmission record at the top of the page indicates it was faxed from the union on June 5, 2015.

July of 2013. AA 80. On June 26, 2014 this Court issued its opinion in *Thomas v. Nevada Yellow Cab*, 327 P.3d 518 (2014) and found that taxi drivers in Nevada were covered by the MWA. In response to the *Thomas* decision the Industrial Technical & Professional Employees Union, Local 4873 (the “ITPEU”), the union representing Henderson’s taxi drivers, filed a grievance with Henderson on July 16, 2014 pursuant to its CBA with Henderson. AA 195, 254-256. On July 30, 2014 Henderson denied that grievance. AA 267.

The Henderson CBA’s grievance procedure grants the ITPEU the right to have any grievance not cooperatively resolved to its satisfaction determined by an arbitrator. AA 256-258. There is no evidence that the ITPEU either threatened to or attempted to proceed with arbitration of its grievance after it was denied by Henderson.

On February 19, 2015 Sargeant filed his class action lawsuit for minimum wages with Henderson answering the same on March 19, 2015. AA 1-15.

On April 8, 2015 Henderson, presumably under the advice of its counsel but without notice to Sargeant’s counsel or the district court, mailed or delivered by

hand letters to over 1000 of its current and former taxi drivers, the putative class members. AA 19.³ Those letters acknowledged, without naming Sargeant, the existence of this lawsuit. AA 51. They also stated that “[i]n these types of lawsuits, the attorneys are the ones who win, not employees or companies, and they bring case after case trying to get settlements to line their own pockets rather than to truly benefit individuals like you.” *Id.* The April 8, 2015 letters do not mention any grievance with the ITPEU, only mentioning that Henderson had “discussed” the minimum wage issue with the union and was “on the verge of a policy change” when this lawsuit was filed. *Id.*

Henderson’s April 8, 2015 letters state that it had determined the class member would be owed a specified amount of unpaid minimum wages, if this Court’s decision in *Thomas* made the MWA applicable to taxi drivers for a two

³ This is recited in Sargeant’s brief to the district court and was not disputed by Henderson. Sargeant’s counsel’s declaration to the district court discussed a review of letters sent to 487 former drivers and that 336 of those drivers did not sign acknowledgment forms, while 100% of the current drivers had signed those acknowledgments. AA 338-339. Henderson affirmed that a “substantial majority” of all drivers had signed acknowledgments in response to its letters. AA 192-193. If a “substantial majority” is at least 67% Henderson attempted to obtain acknowledgments from over 1000 taxi drivers.

year period prior to June of 2014. *Id.* Henderson did **not** make those payments to its currently employed taxi drivers by adding them to its normal payroll payments. It prepared separate checks that it gave to its current, and former, taxi drivers only after they signed “acknowledgments” that they were receiving all minimum wages owed to them. AA 57. Its former taxi driver employees were told in the letters mailed to them “[i]f you wish to receive the check, please sign and date the enclosed acknowledgment and return it to us using the self-addressed, postage-prepaid envelope (also enclosed).” AA 68-69.

The “acknowledgments” Henderson secured from the taxi drivers included an “affirmation” that the signing taxi driver “...including this payment, has been paid all compensation, including wages (including minimum wage)” that they “may have been entitled” from Henderson. AA 57. Henderson alleged in its brief to the district court, but did not corroborate through any declaration, that class members could sign a different “acknowledgment” containing no such “paid all minimum wages” affirmation. AA 127-128, 276. No executed “non-affirmation” acknowledgments exist and “a substantial majority” of the class members signed

acknowledgments affirming they had been paid all minimum wages owed to them.

AA 338-339, 192-193.

On April 17, 2015 Sargeant's counsel, upon becoming aware of Henderson's April 8, 2015 letters, wrote to Henderson's counsel. AA 59-61. It advised Henderson it was acting improperly, and could be subject to sanctions, by securing non-judicially supervised releases of the class members' minimum wage claims. *Id.* Sargeant's counsel invited Henderson, in lieu of facing a motion for sanctions, to work cooperatively to remedy its improper conduct and undertake a transparent, and judicially supervised, process to resolve those minimum wage claims. *Id.*

On May 5, 2015, Henderson's counsel corresponded with Sargeant's counsel. AA 63. Henderson did not accept Sargeant's counsel's invitation of April 17, 2015. Instead Henderson offered Sargeant, individually, a settlement of \$5,000 (while also stating he was only actually owed \$107.23 in unpaid minimum wages) and his counsel \$20,000 in attorney's fees and costs, in exchange for a "dismissal with prejudice of the pending action." *Id.*

On May 27, 2015 Sargeant filed his motion for class certification, sanctions,

and other relief. AA 16-121. On June 5, 2015,⁴ Henderson secured from the ITPEU a written agreement (the “grievance resolution”) confirming that it was entering into a resolution with the ITPEU of the grievance Henderson had denied in July of 2014. AA 272. The grievance resolution states, in its entirety:

On July 16, 2014, pursuant to Sections V (Wages) and XV (Grievance) of the collective bargaining agreement between the ITPEU/OPEIU Local 487 AFL-CIO and Henderson Taxi, the ITPEU/OPEIU grieved the issue of Henderson Taxi's failure to pay at least the state minimum wage under the amendments to the Nevada Constitution on behalf of the Bargaining Unit. After discussion with the Company, the ITPEU/OPEIU agree that the following actions by Henderson Taxi resolve the grievance pursuant to Section XV of the CBA:

Henderson Taxi shall pay at least the state minimum wage on a going forward basis, and;
Henderson Taxi shall compensate all of its current taxi drivers, and make all reasonable efforts to compensate all former taxi drivers employed during the prior two year period, the difference between wages paid and the state minimum wage going back two years. Henderson Taxi shall also make reasonable efforts to obtain acknowledgements [sic] of the payments to employees and former employees and give them an opportunity to review records if the individual driver questions the amount calculated by Henderson Taxi.

Accordingly, the ITPEU/OPEIU considers this matter formally settled under the collective bargaining agreement between Henderson Taxi and the ITPEU/ OPEIU and state law as implemented through such collective

⁴ The one page grievance resolution, presumably drafted by Henderson, contains no signature date or execution date. The fax transmission history at the top indicates it was transmitted from the ITPEU on 06/05/2015.

bargaining agreement. Pursuant to Article XV, Section 15.7, this resolution is final and binding on all parties.

Section V (Wages) of the CBA makes no mention of any obligation by Henderson to pay minimum wages under Nevada law. AA 242-243. It is solely concerned with the amount (percentage) of the taxi driver's "book" (fares collected from customers) that the driver must be paid by Henderson Taxi. *Id.*

Section XV (Grievance) of the CBA sets forth a process for resolving grievances and defines a grievance as follows:

15.1 A grievance is defined as a claim or dispute by an employee, or the Union, concerning the interpretation or the application of this Agreement, except those relating to the no strike/no lockout provisions. AA 254.

It also limits the scope of any grievance resolution by providing that:

15.8 The resolution of a grievance shall not be precedential, nor have retroactive effect in any other case. AA 255.

The CBA also excludes from its grievance procedure disputes that are based upon any law, as Section XVIII (Miscellaneous) of the CBA provides:

18.3 COMPLIANCE WITH LAW: The parties shall comply with all laws which properly apply to the employer-employee relationship, including but not limited to, laws prohibiting discrimination on the basis of race, creed, color, religion, sex, national origin or age. Any violation of such laws, and any dispute over the meaning and interpretation of such laws, shall

not be subject to resolution through articles XV [Grievance] and XVI [Arbitration] of this Agreement, but shall be decided only by a court of law of competent jurisdiction. AA 260-261.

The CBA contains no term waiving any rights granted by the MWA. Other Las Vegas taxi companies, as part of a CBA with another union and not the ITPEU, have secured CBA language that in clear and unambiguous terms waives their drivers' rights under the MWA. AA 309-310. No comparable agreement between Henderson and the ITPEU exists.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The district court's accord and satisfaction finding was in error as the CBA did not "clearly and unambiguously" allow the taxi drivers' MWA rights to be limited by a CBA grievance resolution.

The MWA grants employees a right to sue for unpaid minimum wages in Nevada's courts and prohibits agreements between individual employees and employers that waive any right granted by the MWA. It only allows such a waiver of MWA rights, in full or in part, including the right of employees to prosecute MWA claims in Nevada's courts, to be made in "clear and unambiguous terms" in a CBA. The Henderson CBA contains no waiver, much less one "in clear and

unambiguous terms,” of any MWA rights. Nor did the CBA authorize the resolution of MWA claims, or Sargeant’s previously filed MWA lawsuit, through its grievance and arbitration process. It expressly prohibited the resolution through that process of any claims arising under any law, such as claims under the MWA. As a result, no “accord and satisfaction” and settlement of the taxi drivers’ MWA claims, or Sargeant’s earlier filed lawsuit, could arise from the Henderson Taxi/ITPEU grievance resolution and the district court’s contrary finding was erroneous.

The district court’s accord and satisfaction finding is not supported by the terms of the grievance resolution upon which it was based.

Assuming, *arguendo*, that under the CBA the ITPEU could have entered into an accord and satisfaction of the Henderson taxi drivers’ MWA rights, the district court erred by concluding that the grievance resolution constituted such a settlement. The grievance resolution is silent on the MWA claims that any individual Henderson taxi drivers might bring, or in Sargeant’s case had already elected to bring, in Nevada’s courts. It states the ITPEU was considering “this matter formally settled under the collective bargaining agreement” pursuant to

“state law as implemented through such collective bargaining agreement.” It then refers to such resolution as “final and binding” pursuant to the grievance resolution provisions of the CBA.

The grievance resolution was between the ITPEU and Henderson as to whatever rights, if any, arise under, or are “implemented” by, the CBA and the CBA’s grievance procedure. It is completely silent on resolving any legal rights possessed by the taxi drivers individually and not through or as a result of the CBA. Such silence cannot be construed as a settlement terminating the right of Henderson’s taxi drivers to bring suit under the MWA in Nevada’s Courts (or as a settlement of Sargeant’s lawsuit filed *prior* to that grievance resolution).

The district court erred in failing to void the class member “acknowledgments” and in denying class certification and the other relief requested by Sargeant.

The district court erred in denying Sargeant’s request to void the “paid all minimum wages owed” acknowledgments Henderson secured from the class members. The MWA, by prohibiting individual employee and employer agreements waiving its protections, renders such coercive and non-judicially

supervised “paid in full” agreements void. If the MWA does not render all non-judicially supervised releases void it must at least do so, as in this case, when there is no *bona fide* settlement of a disputed MWA claim. Henderson’s releases are also void because they were obtained through misleading, and non-judicially approved, coercive communications with the potential class members after Sargeant’s class action MWA lawsuit had been filed.

The district court erred in finding that the need to make individualized determinations required a denial of Sargeant’s motion for class certification and other relief. Such finding, to the extent it was based upon the class member acknowledgments secured by Henderson, is in error as those acknowledgments are void and without legal effect. Such finding, to the extent it was based upon a need to make individualized determinations of each class member’s health benefits status is in error for four reasons: a class action could proceed for all Henderson taxi drivers just as to claims under the “lower tier” and “health benefits provided” minimum wage rate; common questions of law sufficient for class certification exist as to how the class members’ health benefit status should be determined; there

is no evidence that a class resolution involving the higher tier “no health benefits provided” minimum wage would require individualized determinations; and Henderson has already, using the information in its possession and under its own calculations, determined that over 1,000 of its taxi drivers are owed minimum wages for a two year period.

APPLICABLE STANDARD OF REVIEW

The district court’s decision granting summary judgment to Henderson is reviewed by the Supreme Court under a *de novo* standard without any deference to the district court’s findings. *Wood v. Safeway, Inc.*, 121 Nev. 724, 729; 121 P.3d 1026, 1029 (2005). Summary judgment is only appropriate when the pleadings and other evidence indicates there is no genuine dispute as to any issues of material fact and the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law. *Id.* When reviewing a decision granting summary judgment, the evidence, and any reasonable inferences drawn from it, must be viewed in a light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *Id.*

The district court’s denial of Sargeant’s motion for class certification is

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