**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE
STATE OF NEVADA**

MICHAEL SARGEANT, Individually
and on behalf of others similarly
situated.

Appellant,

v.

HENDERSON TAXI,

Respondent.

SUPREME COURT Electronically Filed
District Court Case No. A-20-1066 08:03 a.m.
Sep 29 2016
Tracie K. Lindeman
Clerk of Supreme Court

**Appeal from the Eighth Judicial District Court, State of Nevada, County of
Clark, The Honorable Michael P. Villani, District Court Judge**

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Holland & Hart LLP
Anthony L. Hall, Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 5977
R. Calder Huntington, Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 11996
9555 Hillwood Drive, 2nd Floor
Las Vegas, Nevada 89134
Attorneys for Respondent Henderson Taxi

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

²³ Sargeant’s use of a settlement offer to attempt to prove liability, both for sanctions and to support class certification, is knowingly improper. NRS 48.105.

letters simply were not coercive or deceptive and are protected speech. A Defendant does not lose its First Amendment rights because it has been sued and any order limiting those rights has to be supported by a specific record of abuse and very narrowly tailored. *Gulf Oil*, 452 U.S. at 102.

While some cases have invalidated releases or declarations and others have either accepted or even encouraged settlement with putative class members, the cases show that what they do is within the district court's discretion. *Longcrier*, 595 F. Supp. 2d at 1227 (recognizing that courts exercise their discretion regarding communications with putative class members in different ways). Here, the District Court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to invalidate the waivers where the putative class members were protected by a Union with whom they could discuss the letter and where the letter was not deceptive and identified putative class counsel. As such, the Court should uphold the District Court's discretionary decision.

II. The District Court Properly Denied Class Certification

“The class action is an exception to the usual rule that litigation is conducted by and on behalf of the individual named parties only.” *Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. v. Dukes*, 564 U.S. 338, 349 (2011).²⁴ To warrant a “departure” from this rule, the

²⁴ The irony of this fact should not be lost on the Court. Sargeant argues that the Union, elected by majority vote under the NLRA, cannot represent drivers and settle a claim on their behalf, but that **he and the attorney he alone chose** can.

plaintiff must first satisfy Rule 23(a)'s requirements of "numerosity, commonality, typicality, and adequate representation." *Id.* Rule 23 "does not set forth a mere pleading standard." *Id.*; accord *Shuette v. Beazer Homes Holdings Corp.*, 121 Nev. 837, 846, 124 P.3d 530, 537 (2005). Rather, it is a plaintiff's burden to prove that class treatment is proper, *Shuette*, 121 Nev. at 846, 124 P.3d at 537, and he must "be prepared to prove that there are *in fact* sufficiently numerous parties, common questions of law or fact,' typicality of claims or defenses, and adequacy of representation as required by Rule 23(a).'"²⁵ *Comcast Corp. v. Behrend*, 133 S. Ct. 1426, 1432 (2013) (quoting *Dukes*, 564 U.S. at 350). This rigorous analysis will generally overlap with the merits of the underlying case. *Dukes*, 564 U.S. at 351. "If a court is not fully satisfied [after conducting the rigorous analysis], certification should be refused." *Kenny v. Supercuts, Inc.*, 252 F.R.D. 641, 643 (N.D. Cal. 2008) (citing *General Tele. Co of Sw. v. Falcon*, 457 U.S. 147, 161 (1982)). The burden rests with plaintiff to establish that the case is fit for class treatment. *Shuette*, 121 Nev. at 846, 124 P.3d at 537; *Sobel v. Hertz Corp.*, 291

²⁵ In asserting commonality before the District Court, Sargeant only attached a few declarations and sample letters from Henderson regarding the Resolution and acknowledgements. This was entirely insufficient evidence to support class certification and an independent reason to uphold the District Court's decision. *See e.g., Espenscheid v. DirectSat USA, LLC*, 705 F.3d 770, 774 (7th Cir. 2013) (affirming decertification of wage and hour class where plaintiffs offered to present testimony from 42 "representative" class members out of 2,341, because "[c]lass counsel has not explained ... how these 'representatives' were chosen—whether for example they were volunteers, or perhaps selected by class counsel after extensive interviews and handpicked to magnify the damages sought by the class.").

F.R.D. 525, 541 n.23 (D. Nev. 2013) (“Factual determinations supporting a Rule 23 finding must be made by a preponderance of *admissible* evidence.”).

Additionally, the party seeking certification must show that “the questions of law or fact common to class members predominate over any questions affecting only individual members, and that a class action is superior to other available methods for fairly and efficiently adjudicating the controversy.” *See* FRCP 23(b)(3). Here, Sargeant has failed to demonstrate that the District Court abused its discretion in denying class certification.

A. Sargeant Fails to Adequately Address the Relevant Standard

In his Opening Brief, Sargeant focuses entirely on the commonality element of class certification. In fact, after arguing commonality for nine pages, Sargeant concludes his argument about class certification citing his briefing before the District Court, stating: “All of the other necessary elements to sustain the requested class certification (numerosity, adequacy of representation, typicality of claims) were overwhelmingly established.” AOB 49. NRAP 28(e)(2) expressly forbids this argument by incorporation: “Parties shall not incorporate by reference briefs or memoranda of law submitted to the district court or refer the Supreme Court or Court of Appeals to such briefs or memoranda for the arguments on the merits of the appeal.” As such, Sargeant has failed to address each of the NRCP 23(a) requirements and, on this basis alone, his request for certification (presuming

remand) must be denied. Further, any attempt to rectify this error on reply should not be permitted as it would be fundamentally unfair to Henderson because Sargeant failed to address these necessary elements in his Opening Brief. *Edelstein v. Bank of N.Y. Mellon*, 128 Nev., Adv. Op. 48, 286 P.3d 249, 261 n.13 (2012) (refusing to address arguments raised for the first time on reply).²⁶

B. No Class Should Be Certified for a Settled Claim

Sargeant’s argument for class certification relies on his argument that the Union Resolution is invalid. If this Court disagrees, as it should, then no claim can proceed, whether individually or on a class-wide basis because the Union settled the claim. *See supra* Part I. Thus, as Henderson has demonstrated that the Resolution should stand and any attack on the Resolution is preempted, *see supra* Part I(C)(3), the District Court properly denied class certification.

Similarly, Sargeant’s argument for a reduced class certification fails based on preemption. Sargeant requests that if this Court does not invalidate the Resolution, the Court order certification of a class of non-acknowledgement signers. However, acknowledgements are irrelevant to whether the Union settled the claim at issue—it did. AA 273. As such, no limited class can be certified as that class would only assert a settled and preempted claim. Further, Sargeant did not appeal denial of his Motion for Reconsideration, which is where he first requested

²⁶ If the Court considers Sargeant’s arguments below via incorporation, it should consider Henderson’s as well, AA 138-74, or permit a surreply.

this relief. *See* Notice of Appeal. As such, this issue is not properly before this Court. NRAP 3(c)(1)(B).

C. Sargeant Has Not Shown Commonality Sufficient to Warrant Overturning the District Court

Sargeant also falls far short of demonstrating commonality—the only element of class certification he actually addresses. *See* FRCP 23(a)(2). Under NRCP 23(a)(2), Sargeant must show that there are common questions of law or fact common to each individual within the proposed class. Questions of law and fact are common to the class only if the answer to the question as to one class member holds true as to *all* class members. *Shuette*, 121 Nev. at 845, 124 P.3d at 538; *see also Falcon*, 457 U.S. at 155 (questions of law and fact must be applicable in the same manner as to the entire class). Further, determining the common questions’ “truth or falsity” must resolve an issue that is “central to the validity of each one of the claims in one stroke.” *Dukes*, 564 U.S. at 350. In other words, “[w]hat matters to class certification ... is not the raising of common questions—even in droves—but, rather the capacity of a classwide proceeding to generate common answers apt to drive the resolution of the litigation.” *Id.* (citations omitted). “[I]f the effect of class certification is to bring in thousands of possible claimants whose presence will in actuality require a multitude of mini-trials (a procedure which will be tremendously time-consuming and costly), then the

justification for class certification is absent.” *Shuette*, 121 Nev. at 847, 124 P.3d at 543 (internal quotation marks omitted).

1. The Acknowledgements Demonstrate the Putative Class Lacks Commonality

Sargeant relies on his argument that the Acknowledgements executed by a majority of those he seeks to represent are void. As discussed above, the District Court exercised its discretion and chose not to void those acknowledgments and there is no basis for this Court to overturn the District Court’s use of its discretion in that fashion. *See supra* Part I(E). As such, the vast majority of drivers have affirmatively stated that they reported all hours worked and have been fully paid by Henderson. AA 191-93, 274. This alone shows that class certification would be improper because hundreds of putative class members deny that they worked off-the-clock, contrary to Sargeant’s allegations in his Motion for Certification. *Compare* AA 274, *with* AA 23-24; *see also* RA 20-27 (demonstrating payments between \$147.96 and \$2,920.25). As such, Sargeant cannot show common questions of law or fact applicable in the same manner to the entire class. As such, certification would be improper. *Shuette*, 121 Nev. at 845, 124 P.3d at 538; *Dukes*, 564 U.S. at 350.

2. The Union-Negotiated Letters Do Not Show Commonality

Sargeant claims that the letters sent to Henderson drivers pursuant to the Resolution demonstrate common factual and legal issues, such as how did

Henderson calculate payments, what should be done with unclaimed payments, etc. However, any allegation that Henderson did not properly calculate settlement payments would be a claim possessed by the Union, not Sargeant, and would be preempted by the LMRA as alleging breach of the Resolution (a contract between the Union and Henderson). *Shane*, 868 F.2d at 1060 (holding that claim alleging breach of a CBA are preempted). Similarly, the Resolution did not require all drivers be paid, but only required Henderson engage in “reasonable efforts to compensate all former taxi drivers.” AA 272. If Sargeant contends this settlement was unfair, he can assert a duty of fair representation claim against the Union. Thus, these letters only support the District Court’s decision to deny class certification.²⁷

3. Resolution of the Claim Would Require Individualized Analysis

a) Off-the-Clock Claims Require Individualized Analysis

Sargeant entirely fails to address the question of how his off-the-clock work allegations demonstrate that the individualized analysis of each class member’s claims would be necessary. AA 24, 81-82. In this case, Sargeant alleges that he and others were not paid for “show-up” time and that they worked through breaks

²⁷ Sargeant’s arguments regarding unclaimed funds from a judgment escheating to the state or going to a *cy pres* beneficiary do not apply in a settlement setting like this, only where judgment was entered.

without compensation. AA 24, 81-82. Such off-the-clock work is not just a question of damages, but goes to the heart of liability. And courts routinely deny certification because off-the-clock work claims, by their very nature, are often overwhelmed by individual inquiries. *See, e.g., In re Wal-Mart Wage & Hour Litig.*, No. 2:06-CV-00225-PMP-PAL, 2008 WL 3179315, at *19 (D. Nev. June 20, 2008) (noting off-the-clock claims “would involve an examination of the particular instances of alleged unpaid work to determine if in fact the employee worked but was not paid”); *Basco v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.*, 216 F. Supp. 2d 592, 596 (E.D. La. 2002) (recognizing “individualized issues will arise from the myriad of possibilities that could be offered to explain why any one of the plaintiffs worked off-the clock,” and are subject to individualized defenses); *Pryor v. Aerotek Sci. LLC*, 278 F.R.D. 516, 533 (C.D. Cal. 2011) (stating off-the-clock claims would entail “determining on an individual basis how much time the employee worked compared to the time for which he or she was compensated”). So, too, here. Any off-the-clock work claims would require substantial individualized inquiry and support the District Court’s exercise of discretion to deny class certification. At the very least, remand with mandated class certification would be improper as Henderson should at least be able to explore this issue in discovery prior to certification.

b) Which Wage Tier Applies to Each Driver Requires Individual Analysis

The “two-tiered” minimum wage provided by the MWA requires a district court to determine whether a driver has dependents and what his earnings (including tips) are, which are individual questions.²⁸

(1) Applicable Coverage Depends on Actual Number Dependents

Sargeant contends that the only relevant insurance cost figure is the cost of family coverage. There is no basis for this in the MWA or its regulations. NAC 608.102 and 608.104 provide that to qualify for the lower tier wage, a “health insurance plan must be made available to the employee and *any* dependents of the employee” that costs no more than 10% of the **gross taxable income attributable to the employer**, which includes tips earned. (emphasis added). Thus, pursuant to the MWA and its regulations, the cost of family coverage is only relevant if a taxi driver has a family of dependents. *See* MWA; NAC 608.102. If a driver has no dependents, the cost of family coverage is irrelevant as he or she has no dependents to cover. The only relevant figure to individuals without dependents is the cost of

²⁸ It should first be noted that Sargeant seeks to avoid the individualized question by seeking certification only on the lower minimum wage tier. While Sargeant asserts any driver could bring an individual claim asserting a claim to the higher tier, he also acknowledges elsewhere that this type of litigation would be unlikely. Thus, Sargeant admits that his counsel is more interested in getting certification to line his own pocket than actually asserting any particular class member’s full rights and will walk away from part of the claim when it hurts his certification argument.

insuring themselves, *see* NAC 608.102, which is fully covered by Henderson. *See* RA 18-19; AA 245. Further, if an employee only has a single dependent, the relevant cost of insurance is the cost to insure the employee and his or her one dependent. *Id.*²⁹

This is not simply a question of damages, but of whether any liability exists at all. But beyond that, even if this were only a question of damages, it is so predominant that it would bar certification. Sargeant’s reliance on *Yokoyama v. Midland National Life Insurance Co.*, 594 F.3d 1087 (9th Cir. 2010), for the proposition that damages calculations supposedly cannot defeat certification is misplaced because it has been abrogated by the U.S. Supreme Court. Specifically, in *Comcast*, the Court reversed a certification order where “[q]uestions of individual damages calculations will inevitably overwhelm questions common to the class.” 133 S. Ct. at 1433. And, the Court noted, “at the class-certification stage (as at trial), any model supporting a plaintiff’s damages case must be consistent with its liability case.” *Id.* As such, in *Stiller v. Costco*, the court rejected the “assertion that damages issues cannot defeat predominance.” 298 F.R.D. 611, 627 (S.D. Cal. 2014). Indeed, “[t]he Supreme Court’s decision in *Comcast* makes clear

²⁹ Whether a driver must enroll to be subject to the lower minimum wage is currently being decided by this Court in Docket No. 68523. Further, Sargeant did not address subclasses based on whether they received insurance in his Motion for Certification or reply in support thereof. Thus, such subclass questions are not properly before the Court.

that individualized damages determinations *can* defeat Rule 23(b)(3)'s predominance requirement." *Id.* (emphasis added). Thus, the court recognized, "Comcast abrogates ... *Yokoyama* in this regard." *Id.*

(2) A Driver's Amount of Income Requires Individualized Inquiry

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